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CHAPTER I

DITRODUCTION AND OBJRCTIVES
¥From the Ttime of Mercus VUhitmen's death in 1847 until
the end of the alneobeenth century thore developed an extra—
erdinsyy aignificance to VWhitman's life and work which
could ocnly be Germed legondary. This was the Uhitmsn-saved-

eegon story, which claimed for Whitman what he hinself ne-

.

ver Gld, that the whole Oregon territory, comprising the
present-tay states of Washington, Idaho, snd Oregon, was
kept from the British and safegnarded for American hands
solely through Vhitnon's efforts in his trip east in 1842w
1645 and in his porticipation in the grest westeorn emigra-
tion of 18435, This legend grew and developed uatil the
turn of the ceatury when the story, already under suspicion,
wes thoroughly debunked and proclaimed a ayth by Edward G.
Bourne in his hook, Essays in Historical Criticism.

The adherents to this myth refused to believe thet it
was snything but true, and the argumncnt raged for some
years. Opposition eventually died down, and today all mo=-
dern historiens discount Whitmen's patriotic efforts as, at
best, insignificant.

The result is this, that a historical coverage of
Whitoman's life and work eaphasizes the study of his suppo-
sed patriotic efforts and their explanation, and relegates
to a decidedly inferior position the evaluation of his ac=-
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tual mission work. Wrliters either pass by the analysis of
his mission wori, the massacre, and reasons for ity menbtion
then in passing; or give varied sccounts, esnecially as o
the factors leading to the massacre of the mission in 1847.

It shall be the writer's objectives to £irst of 21l
gather together, correlate, and evaluate all the possible
laportant factors which could be Germed causes for the mese
socre; and, secondly, to try Go determine how much of ths
responsibility for the failure of the nission can be lgid
dirvectly o its leader, Dr. Marcus Whitman, who is usually
exonerated completely from Dlame.

The prinmery sources in this exominatioo of the mission-
ary endeevoms of Mercus Whitmen hsve been linited to pub-
lizhed volumes of his and Mrs., WVhitmen's correspondence. ‘
Other sources were private collections and the archives of
Whitnan College in Walla Valla, Washington, and of the
American Board of Commissioners for Foreign ilissions, loca=-
ted in Fhiladelphia., The latter, however, werc nct availe
able for thic paper.

The chaptors of this paper deal with the initis]l mis-
sion work in the COregon Territory, a biographical sketch of
Dr. ond ks, Whitmon, the years of their sctivity in Oregon,
and the massacre and ites consequences, Thisc is followed by
an ovaluaition of the mission yeers as influencing or causing

the massacre.




CHAPTER II
THE INITIAL RELIGIOUE INFIUENCES

“he Thoughts of possibls missionary activiiy aacag
the Indians of the Pacific Horthwest were first menifesited
in the year 1798. In that year a German nobleman, inter-
sgtod in mission work, Baroa August von Schirnding, pro-
vosced bhe establishment of z Christian mission on the
coast of the FPacific Northwest. As amissionary activity was
being carried on at this ﬁimo anong bLhe Indisns of the
castern and cenbral Uaited States, he wished the spirit of
Chrigtianity Lo spread cven further. This plaz of his
never materialized, bub in a short while projects siamiler
in neture came from other sources.l

The fivst official countact of the Indisnzs of the Paw-
cific Horthwest with the white men came via the Iewis aand
Clarik expedition of 1805-1806. The nen of shis expedition
and perticularly thelir leaders had made & favorable io-
pression=-religiously speaking--upon the Indiasns of this
area, and this impression was strengthened by the subsoguent
assoclation of the Indisans with othsr white men who latjer
started to infiltrate the area., Thsse were the trappers,

mountain men, hunters, cnd fur traders who were capitali-

loscar Osburn Vinther, The Greai Horthwest (How York:
Alfred A. Knopf, 1947), p. 113,
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zing on the abucdance of fur-bearing animals in this area,
since no trapping had ever been done before this. These
furs could be turned in for profit at the trading posts
wilch were then coming into prominence in the area, such as
the Hudcoon's Bay Company and John Jacob Astor's post at Ase
toria, which was later abandoned in 1814.2

The teachings of Christianity were [irst introduced
emong these Indians, the Flatheads and the Nez Peorceos,
betweon the yoars 1l812-1820, The bearers of this "white
man's religion"™ were a wandering band of Iroguois Indians
from a missgion near ilontreal, Canada., Their chief, Big
Ipnace, & zealous adherent to the Roman Catholic faith,
was instrumental in scquainting thaée two tribes with
what he kanew of his religiun.§

The first official roligioue'influencee and estebh-
lished systoms of training in the teachings of the church
d4id not come from missionarios. Services for the Iandians
were held by Presbyterians and Episcopalians employed by
the Hudson's Bay Companys Froa 1832 on Eier;e Pambrun,
the chief trader at Fort Walla VWalla, gave Roaan Catholic
instructions to the Indians. Young Indian men, trained
2t the Red River Settlement School, under the spensorship

Zyilliam A, Mowry, i vhit £ ihe ey fay
\ e e lMarcus Whitman and the Zerly Days
of Oregon (Wew York: éiIver, Burdett and COey 1)

Pe Eso

3 h she T
George W. Fuller, A History of the Pacific Horthwest
(New York: Alfred A. Knopl, I§5§). Pe 125. : o o
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of the Hudson's BEay Company, also held services among the
Indisns and iastructed them in the fundamentals of the
Chyistilen faith. One such Indian teacher was Spokane Gar-
ry, active Irom 1820 on, who was perheps the most effec-
tive of all the Indian tcuchers.4

However, by this time Americun syes had besn opened %o
the possibilities of prospective missions among the Pacific
Northwest Indion tribes. In 1810-1811 pians for a mission
project on the Honthwest Coast were being formulated ot
Andover Theological Seanlasry. In the same years, 1810-
1811, the American Boerd of Comaissioners for Foreign
Missions was formed which represented the Presbyterian,
Congregational, and Juteh Reformed dencainations, its
hoae office located in Boston. Separate missionary scci-
etics viere also being formed in this general period. In
1815 a Baptist sccieﬁy was formed, and a Mcthodist society
in 1819.°

In 1819 the American Board for Foreign liissions sent
its first missionaries--to the Hawaiian Islands. This mis-
sion was formally established in 1820, The men at this
nission, living on = meritime trade route, kept hearing

fevorable reports about the Pacific Northwest as a mission

“Ibides Do 124

Syinther, ops gite, Pe 113. Winther has the most com-
prehensive coverapge or this phase of early Oregon mission
work and shall therefore be quoted extensively for the next
four footnotes, no problem existing in this area.
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site and sugrested 0 the Americon Board that this area
might beer inspection with a view to finding a suitable lo-
cation for mission work. 1In 1829 the Prudential Commititce
of the Aimerican Board sent one of its nmissionaries from
Howaii, the Rev. J. 8. Green, to the lorthwest coast on a
tour of reconnalssance. Green never set foot outside of
his ship and ianvestigated only the ports. However, he did
suggsst thet a mission be established near the mouth or
lowor part of the Colunbia River. Definite action on
Green's propesal wes delayed by the American Board uatil
1854.°

The first direct move Lo establish missions in COregon
was made by the lethodist lissionary Soclety. That which
finelly vprodded them into action was an account of the vi-
sit of an Indian delegation o 8t. Louis in 1855, published
in the Christion Advocate in the same year. The known
factes are these: a delegation of Flathead and Hez Ferce
Indians bad come to St. Louls Go sse General Clark, who
had visited their country some years previously. Since
then they bad come to know more of the teachings that
Clark and his men had first brought them, and so they had
come to him to seek further information and help. The
story became highly embroidered and sentizentalized in its
telliing and retelling, but the result was that the story

8 1bid.
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was circulated and psople were moved by it. The liethodist
Mission Board issued a call for volunteers, selected aone
from among the many applications, and announced the ap-
pointment of a youthiul minister from New Englend, the
Rev, Jason Iee, &as its missionary to the Indian tribes in
Orsgun.7

Hot only Jason Iee but also his anephew, Daniel, had
responded to the call and had been appointed., Jason was
tBitled Chief Misslonery and Daniel dission Associate and
Junior Assisiant,

Jason and Daniel ILee and two lay assisteants arrived
at Voncouver on Septeaber 15, 1834, There the Chief Fac-
tor of the Hudson's Bay Company, Dr. John licIoughlin, ad-
vised them to settle in the Willamette Valley where the
Indicns were known o be more friendly. He thus not only
kept them from gotting in his way in his own area, tut he
also kept them out of the way of the very Indéians whe bad
originally sent the delegation to St. Louis for halp.8

Iece established a mission in French Prairie late in
1834 and later on two branch missions at The Dalles and
near Fort Hisgqually. idissionary work was begun, but the
Indian children proved to be the most receptive to the Gos-

pel, the adults being considered hopeless as prospects.

7bid., p. 114,

a8
Jdbidsy Pe 115. pRITZ] AFF MEMORIAL LIBRARY
CONCORDIA SFHINARY
8T. LCULS, =0.
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Jason Ise was required to perform the duties of a farmer,
carpenter, mecheanic, teacher, preacher, et sl., and plea-
ded with the Board for help and reinforcements, which were
sent in 1837. ©The following yesar ILee went east on a per-
socanal recruitment tour for still more workers, and in 1840
a total of fifty~one men, women, aad children arrived.9

These reinforcements moerk a turning point in the em=-
phasis of the mission., As inGerest in the missicnary work
dwindled, that in the advencement of settlements and other
secular pursulba. increased. The Board realized this situ-
ation from their reports andéd replaced the Ises with the
Rev. CGeorge Gary whe managed to disassociate the mission
fron nmuech of its secular activities. Howewvsr, from then on
this mission was still regarded as the nucleus of the
American colonization, and it became the mecca for all
those later pilgrims to whom the name Willamette Valley
becane synonymous with Qregun.lo

As the lMethodist iission Board was stirred into acti-
vity by this published report of the Indian delegation %o
St. Louis in 1833, so was also the American Beoard for For-
eign Missions. In 1833 it issued a call for volunteers for

a Teconraissance nmission to the Northwest and chose an el-

91bid., p. 116.

1QH :
ubert Howe Bancroft, History of the Pacific States
of North America (San Franciscos I%h_ﬁhsfory COe

shers, 1886), AXIV, 117.
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derly minister from Middlefield, iassachusetts, the Rev.
Gamel lﬁrﬁer.ll

FParker wented to stort west »ight away, but the tra-
veling conditions he would have encountered due to the wea=—
ther prevented him from lesving until 1834. In that year
Parkex and his essocictes set out for St. Louis, They hed
planned 4o cross the plains westviard with the fur caravan,
but they reached St. Touis six weeks too late. Parker lefd
his asscoclates there o do mission work amnong the Pawnee
Indians, and he returned eas®t to look for more workers for
ﬂregcn.lﬁ His plan of action, carried out with the knowul=-
edge and coasent of the Americen Board, was to gather not
cnly more men and workers, but also more monsy for the
prodect.15

Cn this reczruitment trip east Parker arrived in Wheel-
er, New Yorik, in Hovember snd aroused the lnterest of Dr.
Marcus Uhitman in the cause of missions. A fow days later
he stopped at Angelica, Wew York, and also aroused the
interest of Narcisso Prentiss, the fubture wife of Dr. Whit-

mane Drury says of Parker's activity in interesting the

1l 3nther, ope cibe, De 117

iz ar
Clifford if. Drury, iarcus Vhitman, ii.D., Flonear
and Mare {Caldwell, Iﬂého: The GCaxton Irinters, o

2 Pe ©70

13 . . !
Joseph Schafer, A History of the Facific lorthwest
(Wew Yorik: The Hoomnillon Company, 1005), De 126.
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two of them in foreign missions:

Although Farker dic?. 0ot realize the full sipnificance

Dotk imor Shut.aas of ‘Sic” Eapetons Bovuisge e the,

causec of voth church and state was to find thege two

characters and to interest them in 0ld Oregon.ig

The Roman Catholic Church also became. awarz of its
missionary responsibilities in this area and officially re-
cognized this regicn of the Pacific Worthwest in 1836, In
1558 the Church seni Father Francis N, Blanchet of the Hon-
troal dilocese and Father lcdeste Demers from the Red River
in Canada to be missionaries in this area, They were to
minister not only to the Imdians, but particularly to the
¥rench Cemanadisn fur traders in the region and to the vari-
cus servants and employees of the Hudson's Bay Coapany,
a predominsntly Catholic group of workers. Their first
mission was on the Cowlitz River, near the present border
between Oregon and \'.'ashington.lE The Jesuits also heeded
this mission call and in 1840 sent the Belgian, Father
Fierre-Jean de Smet, to the Oregon country from St. Louis.
De Smet was a physical and spiritual tower of strangth and
established many missions among the Indians who everywhere
liked and reapected him. He often served as a mediator be-
tween the Indian and the white man in times of 1:::-t:11,1:.'l.e.16

This was the situation which confronted Dr. Vhitman

14Drur.v, OPe gitey Do 20.

lsh'inthe:‘. OD» citey De 119,
161,3a,., p. 120.
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when he arrived in the Oregon country in 1826, Some of
these facltors were helpful and beneficial o his work, butb
some of them alsc caused him and his work to suffer.

Jo any event the coming of Ir. Vhitman to the Orsgon
Territory in 1856 was not to a cecld and hostile region,
but to one which had alresdy tasted the Gospel of Christ
and was seeningly desirous of still more.

The following chapber shall be an examination of the
early life and background of Dr, Vhitman prior to his work

in Oregon.




CHAPTER III
THE LIFH AND BACKGROUND OF MARCUS WHIDMAN UNTIL 1876

Harcus Whitman was the son of Beze and Alice, nee
Grecn, ihitnen, who were aurried March 9, 1797, in Cunning-
hen, New York. In the fall of that year they moved from
Canningham to Rushwville, Onterio County, ¥ew York, 250
miies vest, where they lived in the recently vacated house
oi Alice's brother, Heary Green. In Rushville Beza built a
tannery, Ennﬁinued his trade of shosnaker, and fathered
five children. IMarcus, their third sﬁn, was born in the
0ld house in Rushville on September 4, 1802.1

When MHarcue was only elght years old his father, Beza,
died, leaviag a widow alone with five children, the oldest,
Auvgusius, only twelve years old. Because of the heavy fi-
nancial buvden vesting on irs. Whitman after her husbend's
death, she sent Warcus to live with his father's half bro=
$hor, Frecdom Whitman, in Cumsingbon, Hassachusebts.o

Thies period of time spent in Cummington bad far-rea=
ching results in the life of ilarcus. Some of his later let=-

1

Gllffamﬁ H. Drury, larcus wnitman, if,Dy y Pioneer aid
Mart (Caldwell, Jdaho: ~The Caxton rFrinter s, T6d., 1937),
PPe 55-25. No problem is presented 1n Dr. Vhitman's lifec
prior to 1836, therefore Drury will be referred to frequent-
ly as be has utilized and correlated all the extant evidence
in his biography of Dr. Whitman. Many other wvolumes werse
consulted, but all coancurred with Drury on major points.

2 Tbid., De 26,
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tors speok of uis early education and religious instruction
and describe the care end training of his very pious grand-
father and uncle es that of the most diligent, loving, and
consbant. Drury says of them:
These two plous men, grandfather and unecle, left an
indelible inpression upon young darcus. It was his
good fortune Lo come under their influence during som
of the most important years of character developaent.

Az a further indication of the influence of these two men

=]

upon the life of lercus, Drury also feels that,

Horcus Whitmen would never have gone to 0ld Oregon
g a modical aissionary, had it not beea for the
in of even?;_thgt ﬁﬁurted wlith the death of his
s Beza Uhitman.
4t the age of thirteen HMarcue was envrolled as a stu-
dont in a classical school at Plainfield, seven miles from
Cuwaeington, conducted by the Rev. ioses Hallock, pastor of
the church there. At this school Harcus took the standard
courses offered therc, the English classics and related ;
subjects, Iatin, and Greesk, subjectis or&inarily given to
those students prepering for the Gospel nministry. It was
vhile in this school that Marcus decided to study for the
ministzy.5
Yarcus was influcnced in his desire for the office of
the ninistry by a auaber of factors. First of 2ll by his

BIbidig De 27
fvia.
?Ibide., De 3le
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grandfathsr and uncle, mentioned above, with whom he lived
during his early formative years. A second factor was Mar-
cus' teacher, iioses Hallock. He sxerted a strong religious
influence on his students, since the records indicate that
£ifty of his 304 students entered the ministry. Another
factor was the Sunday School in the Plainfield church, or-
ganized in 1819, Marcus' teacher was Deacon James Richards,
whose son, Janes Richardb, JdPey Was a nissionaxry to Ceylon,
and whe, no doubt, sprsad the enthusiasa for foreisn missions
in his home town through his work. With all of this back=
ground Marcus could hardly help bubt think highly of the
ainistry as a profession.ﬁ

Marcus rebturned to Rushville in 1820, ready for colw
lege and Seminary, but he found.that small, if any, finan-
cial assistsnce could be given him, for the expense of se=-
ven additional years of training required for the ministry
was too costly for the finances of the VWhitman family.
Morcus was needed to help out with the business at home.
His older brother had married and moved away, and liarcus
was needed to give his parents assistance in the shoe and
sennery trade which had been continued by iercus' stepfa=-
ther, Calvin ILoomis, who married iirs. Vhitman while Harcus

was in Plainfield.’

S1hia., pe 32.
7Ibid.. PPe HmS50 e
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Marcus then transforred his menmbership from the Cun=
aington chuwrch and becamz en active member of the Congro-
getional chureh at Rushville.® Under the Plan of Union of
1801, which provided a schems whereby Congregational and
Progbybterion sobtlers in communities might combine and/or
call a minister of either denomination to serve tham,gvthe
church was served by Presoyterian pastors who supplemsnted
the training Marcus had received earlier in Plainfield,

AfGor his twonby-Tirst birthday, Sepiember 4, 18235,
ilarcus decided to enter the medical profession and began to
talze his Graining under Dr. Samuel Bryant, the fricnd and
physician of the fanily. The system in that day wes to
have the asepirving student "ride with the doctor.” This was
2 soxt of apprenticeship, the student learaing technigues
and proces through sctual experience. A& medical education
thus cost very little, for little formal sducation was re=-
guired. DIr. Bryant taught Harcus thoroughly and inparted
o him all the siills of the profession which he knew.C

After piding with Dr. Bryant for two years, liarcus
entered medical school in Fairfield, Hew York, in 1825 and
received a license to practice medicine on lay 9, 1826.11

S1bide, e 37.

9William Varren Sweet, The Story of 11 ;ion in Amoxica
(Few York: Herper aad Brothers, 1030), D 11.

1°brury,'gg. cites PDe 38-39.
llIbido 9 Do 39,
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Vhitman's first practice was in Sugargrove, NHew Yorik,
where he took over the practice cof & friend of his, Dr.
Jonathen FPrati, with whom he had becoume acquainted in medi-
cal school, and who was suffering from illness at this tinms.
From there he went to the little village of Snyders Mill in
upper Canada, where he stayed for two and cne-half years,
until he decided o return to Rushville to talkte up the mi-
nistry. There is nothing in any of the writings and cor=
regspondence of Whitman which gives any reason for his de-
cision o return end tanke up the ministry.12

Whitman resumed his theological studies under the Rav.
Joscpn Bracketty who had succoeded as pastor of the Rushe-
ville church. Whitman had to discontinue these studies be=-
couse of poor health (probably the bowel complainty of
which he pericdically complained), and returned o the prac-
tice of medicine. Returning to Fairfield lledical ESchool in
Cctober, 1851, he received his M.D, degree in Januexry,
1832.17

Whitman then practiced in Wheeler, Hew York, a small
pioncer community, where he became quite active in church
work acceobing the position of both elder and trustece. In
neerby Prattesburg Whitnan becane acquainted with a family

nomed Prentiss, whose daughter, Narcissa, later became

12 hid., ppe 47-49.
15151d., ppe 51=53.
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whitmen's wife.t?

Warclssa Prentiss, the future wife of Iz, lMarcus Whit-
aan, was born in Prattsburg, New York, on dMarch 14, 1808,
She received tralning as a teacher and tauzhi school until
cshe noxried Whitmen. Bhe and Whitman both became interes—
ted in foveipn missions in 1834 through the recrulitment
trip of the Rev, Samuel Parker. She applied to the Ameri-
can Bosrd for an appointment, but the Board turned down her
first application because she was unmarried, However, af-
ter her engagement to Whitman in 1835 the Board appointed
her to serve with her future husband in Oregon.l5

Uihitman oo had been turned down by the American Board
the year before Parker srrived in Wheeler. The Board had
seemed favorably inclined towards him but rejected his ap-
plication when they learned of his poor health at that
'bime.l6

FParker learned of this after he had interesied Whitman
in the cause of foreign missions and urged him to try agein.
Whitman did so and emphasized that his health had iamproved.
This and other letters received from Parker and various pas-—

tors acquainted with Whitmen, attesting to his good charac-

J-'d m = s 3
William A. ilowry, AMarcus VWhitman eand the Barly Days
of Orepon (New York: Silver, Burdett and Company, 1901;,
De =

15])1'111‘3'. ODh. ‘gi-ﬁ-' PPe 72=91.
18114, , pp. 60-67.




18

ter and qualifications, caused the Board to sppoint Whitman
a misslionary physician on January 6, 1855, with the uander-
standing that he should first accompany Parker on his trip
to the Reockies that coming summer.l7

Vhitnon sbtarted west February 19 and on his way to St.
Louvis spent several days in Amity, the home of the Fren-
tisses at that tine. When he left a few days later he was
foraally onzaged to Warcissa Prentiss, and they planned to
be married atfter his return fronm Oregon.ls

Whitnan left Anity on February 23 aftsr only a three
dey visit, as he wanied to be in 5t. Louis on April 1 %o
meet Parker aand to join the fur caravan westward. Whitman
roached St. Louis on April 1, as planned, and there re=-
ceived o letter from Wiilliam Greene, the secretary of the
American Board, which contained his commission as a mission-
ary physician, Parker arrived on April 4, and both called
on the officials of the American Fur Company and secured
permission to cross the plains that summer with the Compa-
ny's fur caravan. This caravan traveled west every spring
to trade for the furs which had been trapped the previous
wintere ™ ?

Vhitman and FPerker left St. Louis and traveled to Ii-

17;§1d., DPp. 68~70,
18154, De 71e

19mpia., ppe 92-93.
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berty, iissouri, where they joined the caravan, The £irst
main goal in their journey was the rendezvous leocated on
the Green River, a branch of the Colorado River, in Wyoming,
They crossed the continental divide on August 10 and reached
the renfezvoues on Lugust 12.20
Cn August 1€ thitnen and Parker met with the chiefs
end dignitaries oi the Nez Porce and Flathead Indian tribes,
whe had come expressly o meet themy and explained to them-
the object and purpose of their visit. They spoke of the
possibility of establishing missions with the assistance of
the Indians., The response was so favorable zond such sine
cerity ondéd honesty wae displayed on the part of the Ine
dians®’ that Whitnan made the suggestion that someone should
return east immediately and recruit more workers for the
actual establichment of the missions. Farker agreed and
told Vhitman to go ahead, insisting that he could continue
alone with the Indians' help and look for possible mission
sites and view conditions in the Oregon countzy. After a
year of investigation Parker was to rejoin the missionories

>
and help them to get started in their nissions .o

204,4d., DDe 94=10Cs

21, ncher Butler Hulbert and Dorothy Printup Hulbert,
editors, "Marcus Vhitman, Crusadexr,” The Crusaders, the
Charles B. Voorhis Serics of Overland Lo bre raciiic (Den=-
ver: The Stewart Commission OFf Colorado College and tne
Ponver Publie Library, 1958), VII, 30S.

aanrury, ope citey Pe 1C5.
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Whitman then returned to the rendezvous to prepare to
return with the fur caravan back east. He had about o week
before the caravan would leave, on August 27, and during
that time Vhitman gathered as much information as he posw
gibly could about the Indizns, tribes, languages, custonms,
and nature of their country, which he then planned to sube-
mit to the Board on his return.?

The caravan made excellent btime on the return trip, and
Whitnan reached St. Louis by Hovember 4, Sometime in Decem—-
ber he saw Narcissa, and they discussed their merriage and
their future work., They both wanted another married couple
to make the trip with them, for company on the trip itself
end for assistance at their mission sites. Vhitman con=
vinced the Board that this would be practical and loocked
about for veolunbeers who would be willing to go o Orogon.
After weeks of searching Vhitman found only one couple, Hen=
ry and Eliza Spalding, whe were willing to become mission-
aries in the Oregon country.24

Morcus Whitmen and Narcissa Prentiss were married on
February 18, 1836, in Angelica, New York. Shortly aifter
their marriage the Whitmans started on their trip west, and
thoy picked up the Spaldings in Cincinatti on lMarch 17.

Phey reached St. Louis on idarch 29, plcked up their commis-

251bid., s 10%.
24 1pid., pp. 107-120.
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sione, and left St. Iouis Harch 31, arriving in Tiberty,
fiissouri, on April ‘?.25

While wailtiog in ILiberty for o boat to go to Bellvue,
where they would join a poxrty heading west, Williem H,.
Gray, & layman from the Hew fnpgland states, joined then,
He told them that ho had been appointed by the Board Lo ac-
company them as & nechanic., Gray later proved to be a poor
helper, unreliable, and geanerally useless. Together the
three men essembled their equipment and purchased the ne-—
cessery livestock needed for a nission fara such as they
would be astarting. Nothing of this nature could be pur=
chased in Oregon, so all livestock had to be brought along.
They storted oul on April 28 ead by May 14 they were 250
niles west, near the Oboe Agency. Uhitmen veant zhead o
the Agency to give medicel treatment to one of the men
thore. UWhile there he saw a man by the name of Fitzpatrick,
the leader of the fur cursvan, with whom he had becone
friendly on his Srip the previous year. Froz him Vhitman
obbtained permission for his party to accompany the caravan
across the pla.ins.26

The caraven and Whitman's party resched Fort ILaranic
on June 1%, remained there for eight days, and then left on
June 21 for the rendezvous, leaving their wagons behind,

25&10‘!!:’.‘3’. OPs.. _c_i_i.. DPe 65-5%.
zsnrury. OPe Clbey PPe 138=143,
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They crossed the coatinental divide on July 4, and on July 6
they reached the rondezvous on the Green River. The tzrip
thus for had been a very difficult one, especially for the
women and particularly for s, Spelding, wiho was almost in-
valided and still had nobt m»ecovered from the effects of her
previcus illuneses, the complicated birth of a stillbora
child.2? '

A% the rendezvous the Vhitmans and the Spaldings en=-
Joyed & great welcome by both the Indians and the mountain
men, ‘They were diseppointed in that Parker was not there
to meet then as he had promised. Some months previous to
this date Perker had decided to go east, and instead of
traveling overland, he took the sea route, traveling around
Cape Horne, They were not only diseppointed by his fallure
%0 meet them, but alsoc by his failure to send or otherwise
rolay to them the desired information they had requested
regarding the country and the nmission sites and prospects.as

Fron the rendesvous the party decided to take the sou-
thern route to Oregon, approximately 600 miles, under the
protection of John McCleod and Tom licKay, both employed by
the Hudson's Bay Company.>~ On July 18 the party begen the
march o0 Fort Walla Walla, This last part of the journey

27 pid., p. 144.
2811,44., Do 145,
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George V. Fuller, i History of the Facific Northwest
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(New Yoriz: Alfred A. Knopf,
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was the nost severe in many respects. Shortage of food,
traveling conditions, weather, fatigue, and breskage of
equipment all conspired to make the Jjourney es difficult a
ong as possible. On September 1 they reached Fort Walla
Wialla whore they received a great reception snd enjoyed &
meh appreciated reat.ﬁa

The party left Foxrt VWella Walla on Scptember © and ap-
rived at Fort Vancouver oa September 1z whers they met.Dr,
John Meloughlin, Chief Factor of Hudson's Bay Gompaa&.
They rexained there for a few days getting more restrand
deciding Jjust what yhey shoul& do. They finally decided to
leave the women at Vancouver whilq the men locked for nesS—
sible mission sites. While ab the Fort, the women earned
a unigque position, for they haﬁ been the first white women
to cross the Oregon trail.§1

Tt had been previously egreed that Spalding was 0 sete
tle among the Nez Ferces on the Clearwater, near Spokane.
The next best place for Vhitman was in the vicinity of Fort
Walla Walla for two rcasons: the Cayuse, Walla Valla, and
Umatille Indians lived in that areca and could all speak the
ez Perce language, a sort of lingua franca ia that areag
the other reason was Lhe strategic location of Fordt Walla

Yalla which was on the main artery for trade and transpor=-

5°Drury.|gn. citey DPe 147-152.
5l1hid., ppe 154=157.
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tation-—the Columbia River, 2

Whitman and Spalding found a suiteble location twenty-—
five miles upstream on the Walla Valle River from the Foxt.
On October 5 Vhitman selecteéd a spot of about 300 acres
which the Indians called Waiilatpu (Ny-ee-lut-poon), "the
place of the rye gr«ss."’g Whitman selected for his hLomsz
2 site necor the mouth of a smell creck empbying into the
mein river, the Walla Walla,ot

The Chief of the Nez Ferces came along to keep fihitmen
and Spalding company on their trip back. ﬁhen.he learned

that the Whitmeans were going to stay in Cayuse territory he

warned them that there would be trouble. BHe said that these

Indianc were perbticularly unworthy and untrustworthy. He
pleaded with them, in vain, to come to his tribe, where
they would be assured of a siacere and peaccful rocception,
but Whitman felt that this was the place for him, He
thought thet if the Indians were that bad they needed the
Word of God more than the other tribes would. Nelither was
he a fearful nor timorous individual, and he felt that the
Lord would protect him.55

The Spaldings were established at Iapwai in Ghe vici-

32Ib1do' Do 159.
33 153d., De 160.

5 -
Miles Cannon, Vaiiletpu, Its Rise and Fall 356
1847 (Boise: Gapitél Tows JOb RoomS, 1015), De o §

3Sprury, op. cite., P 161.
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nity of Spokene, two miles from the same-nomed c:::.'eca]:.g6
The Nez Ferce Indisns showed great enthusiasm and helpfule .
ness in the establishment and atart of the mission, in con=
trast o the lack of inbterest and indifference on the part
of the Cayuses &t Waiilatpu.>?

While Spalding was aelking bhis trip to ILapwai and re-
turning, Whitman and Gray were bullding a house at Waiilat=
pu with as much Indian help as they counld find, which was
very little. On November 22 the Spaldings and Gray left
for Lapwai, accompanied by 125 Nez Perces. While Whitman
wes finishing his house at VWeiilatpu iirs. Vhitman stayed
at the Font with a family named Fambrun, who was the Chief
Trader at the Fort. 0o Pecember 10 Whitmen came and ook
hiis wife to their home at Waiilatpu. It was built near the
creek, mostly of adobe brick, in a very rough and unfinished
condivion. This was the beginning of the complex of buil-
Cinge which was later to mark the mission site of Waillatpu
and the base for their missionary work for the next eleven

58

years.

A
’5ﬁubert Howe Bancroft., Histocry of the Pacific States
of Horth America (San Franciseo: ‘i‘ﬁe’ﬂis%ory COey PUDLi~=
Shers, 1886), AXIV, 135.
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CHAPTER IV
IS MISSION YEARS

The first few ycars of the mission consisted of intense
worke. All the Whitmans had tc start out with was thair
Tough lecn-to and the bare scil around then., Whitmen inme-
diately began to vrepare the soil for cultivaﬁion; planted
seads, and tilled the soil like any farmer. Although this
in itself was a full-tine job, he was also requiraﬁ CO [NOD-
form the duties of a physician to the Indians ahn to the
other whites in the country. In addition he was burdaned
with s5%ill another full-time Jjob, that of the syiritunl
leader and advisor of the mdians, counductiag worship and
devovions and counssling them. Then too he could ‘not find
any assistence from the Indiens, for they could not Lo re=
lied upon o work stesdily, if at all.™

Since the Yhitnens had been sent specificelly o the
Indians, it was the Indisns whoa they wers to help and o
whom they were to minister. However, this seecmingly simple
task of helping child-like savages assumed herculean pro-
portions because of the nature of the Indiens theaselves.

Banczroft described the Indisns with whom Whitman had €to
deal, sayiag,

1 '

Clifford M. Drury, iarcus Whitmon, i Pianaar anﬂ
tlaztys (Coldwell, Idaho: ~The Gaxton Pr et FERey
PDe O9=-172.
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[Mhe missiocnarios] . . . bad to deal witk tribes yetb

in thelr primitvive strength of wmind snd body, haviag

Gheir intelligence not yet weakened bu% sharpencd by

contact with white men, lordly in their ideas of per-

sonal dignity, but bliné to the rights of others while
ingisting with the utmost pertinacity upon what they
estesmed their own » + « their roving habits took then
away frox their teachers during a considerable portion
of the yeaxr, and although quick and eager o learn,
they gave little time to study.

The first year of the mission saw meny blessings. The
Indians were beginning to proiit froz VWhitman's teaching,
both as to religlion and to farming, a few of them prsparing
their own fields for planting. In that same year, 1837, an
abundant horvest fromw bheir fieldes greatly allevialed the
problen of having suffieient food, 2s they had almest run
out of the supplles bLrought with them from Foriy Walla Walla.
Their small herd of cattle, brought with them acrose the
mountains, alsc began to grow and multiply. Finally, the
Whitnens were blessed with the birth of their first and on-
ly child, a girl, Alice Clarissa, bora March 14, 1857.”

leanwhile their» original rude lean-~io had begun o
show unaisbakable sipns of wear and disrepair, In the
sunaer and fall of 1857 iarcus built an adobe house for

Nareisse and himself =2nd used the old leen~to as & tool

2yubert Howe Bancroft, History of the Pacific States
of North Amorica (San Francisco: %he History UDe, FADLi=
shors, L1800, AALV, 25l.

3brury5 op. cite, DPp. 173-176.

4Bricks made of sun-dried clay, the coamon building
naterial in that arca.
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shed. Unfortunately, he built the house too close 0 the
“alla Walla River, and when the river flooded during the
winters and springs ‘of succeeding years it washed away many
of the supports'and foundatione, naking it too dangerous
for habitation and forcing them to rebuild a few ysars
later.5

Another event in 1837 was +the sending of Williem Gray,
their lay helper, back sast for reinforcements. Thus far
CGray had proved to be of lititle help in whatever duty he
wag assigned. Both Vhitman end BSpalding felt that there
was & Gefinlte need for sdditionsl missionaries and workers,
as the field was wide open; and as Gray had expressed a de=-
sire to return east they sent hiam to the Board with their
:equast.6

The year 1835, like all the cthers, was a busy one for
thq Whitmans. Thers were the many tasks which had to be
done in the field and the home and the labors performed for
the Imdians and the other whitves, All of these jobs took
very much time, with the result that only a little tims
could be devoted to each duty with no thorough specializa-
tion or concentration on any one task. IMarcus also imported

sheep from the Hawaiien Islands &and began to raise a hend.7

5Drury, OP. cit., p. 187.
sﬂannroft, opes citsy Do 1356,

7uiles Cannon, Waiilatpu, Its Rise snd Fall, 1836~1847
? o = 9
(Boise: OQCapital Néws Job Rooms, 1915), De 68
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.The fall of the year saw the arrival of the first aand
only reinforcemente for the mission: ir. and lirs. We. He
Gray (he had married while east); Rev. and lirs., Elkanah
Walker; Rev. and irs. L. B. Smith; Rev. and lirs. Cushing
Eells; snd ¥r. Cornelius Rogers. This brought the total
personnel of the Oregon Mission to thirteen, a fipure which
was never exceede&.s

The Missions mnade scae lmportant decisions in their an-
nval meeting on September 1 in this year. [hey had previ-
ously been trying to teach the natives English and carry on
their work in that language, but they hadi not found too
much success by this method because the Indians did not re-
spond. They therefore declded in this meeting that from
henceforth they would uss the natives' own language in their
work, and that all the missionaries should learn it as
quickly as possible.9 The otGher big decision they made was
the placement of the new workers. Vialker and Eells werse
sent to the sitc they themselves had picked. It was twenty-
five miles northwest of the present city of Spokane, and 1t
was called Pschimakain, or "place of springs.” Smith was
sent to Kamish, a site on the north branch of the Walla
Walla River which, however, was abandoned in 184l because .of
Indisn hostilities and never restored. The Grays were sent

abrury.‘gp. cit., Pp. 155-198.
%1bid., p. 201.
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%o Ghe S§ald1ngs, as Gray seened to get along with them the
bests; and Rcﬂvers stayed at Waiilstpu with the Whitmans.lo
This was the zebtup which lasted uatil the area was discone
tinued by the Amemican Board some years after the Massacre
of 1847, These other missionaries, guive some distence from
Whitmen ot Vaiilatpu, never experienced the troubles with
the Indiens which the Whitmens had to endure. The other
migsicnsrice vere among tribes of a more statiocnary nature,
cnd not at all like the Cayuses, who wandersd about abt Tegu=-
laxr intervals every year,

The vhitmans were never quibte able to make their Indi-
ans conpletely discontinue their nomedic hablts which fole
icwed a strict pattorn. Yhey mode their nigrations every
Joexr duriag the monthe off December and January on hunting
trips, o obbtain meat and venison, Then from April to Au-
gust they would leave again to search for one ol their main
foods, the Cames-root, or bisculit root, which by various
nethods of preparaticn could be made into many dishes.

This nomadic tendency on thelr part interfersd greatly with
the Vhitnans' work among theme, Their fields would lie une
touched during the growing sceasony and the Indians could re=-

ceive no continuous progran of teaching and trainins.ll

lomcrOft‘ _0_2-‘ 91‘t0| De 15?.

114 rcher Butler Hulbert and Dorothy Printup Hulbers,
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In 1858 the VWhitmans hed not been in Waililabpu long
enough and had not folt enough disappoinbtments to maxe them
feel discouraged. In a letter dated October 3, 1838, M
cissa expressed the supreme coafidence both she and her hus-
band Lelt in their mission work. She said, "They are truly
en interesting people. Ve love them most sincerely, and
long to see them turning unto the Imrd.“la

As an example of what the ¥Whitmans had to conbend with
in Ghelir work with the Indians, Baneroft further describes
the wograteiul and exasperating character of the Cayuses,

The natives thought they were doing Whitman a favor by

recelving instruction, and wanted pay for this and al-

so for tne ground on which Whitman lived and vwhick he

%;%ggfiged for the support of the mission and the no-

A briefl review of the first few years of the missioa's
activity indiceles that at first Whitman's successes with
the Indions was sufficient o bring encouragements. How=
ever, s the novelty of the missionaries' presence and their
teaching wore off, the ilnterest of the Indians slackened.
Another factor in the lack of interest was the influx of
Catholic priests into the region, teaching by different me-

thods and teaching opposing religious viewpoints, which dis-

12405, Nercisss Whitman, "Ietters Written by Mrs. Whit-
mon Lrom Oregon o Her Relatives 1? gg; Yorl, " Transactiuns
of the Nineteenth Annuzl -Reunion o on Pioneer AS-—
soc%agiun for 1891 (Portland: A. Aanderson EEB Osy 1093),
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turbed the relationships between the wrissiocaaries snd the
natives., A further factor which added to the dissetisfac—
tion of the nstives was a number of dissipated rensgaode
Americens and Indiens, who stirred up es nuch mischief in
%he tribes as possible by slandering the missionaries and

their worl. 1%

Revertheless, the Vhitmans kept on working,
dolng their best, and hoping for a change for tho beiter.

The next year, 1839, was one of great sorrow for the
Whitmene, because thelr baby girl, Alice Clarissa, drowned
in the Walla Valle River at the age of two years =and three
monthse. The ¥Yhitmens were almost overcome with grief bub
manzged o see that in this tredgedy the Lord's Will was
being accomplished for them., The Geath of The child efiec-
ted a sort of reconciliation between the VWhitmans and the
Speldings, who had been bickering and finding fault with
cne another almost since the inception of the Gtwo missions.
The Whitmans had planned to move awsy to prorote the gener-
al peace, but the death of the child made both families
swallow their vride and scknowledge their wrongs. Things
were smoothed over, but this was not to be a permensat
0::11..#.1.1:1{4,'@3.:"5

The work at the nission progressed as usual during the

rest of the summer. Soxne of The Indians hed bLegun to take

14 & 52
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more of am interest in agriculiure and religion, to the ox=
tent that Whitmen was able to write to Secretary Green of
the American Board on October 9, 1839, thatb,

Ve never had greater encouragement about the Indians

than at The present time., Could they be left unmo=-

lested until their mirds should become sebtled upon

the great trubths they have been permitted to hear

about ¢« ¢« ¢« ¢ Ve desire To stay our souls upon Him,

and to labor faighfullj and diligently and leave the

event with Him.™

Another letiter, two and one=half weeks later, October
274 speaks of something which was to the VWhitmans a dark
cloud over their work. The Romen Catholic priestes haed vie
sited the area and were visiting the Indians and baptlizing
them. They were disrupbting the Whitmans' work and confusing
the Indiasns by telling them that "the Americans had kept
then from baptism too long and were too persevering in re-
buking their bad haarﬁs.“17

The first intimation of the resction of the Imdians %o
the Vhitmans' Calvinistic presenbtetion of sin and grace can
be vaguely seen here. More definite indications will be
observed later in subsequent mission correspondence.

On the whole the Whitmens were pleased with the overall

attitudes of the Indians during the winter of 1859-1340,

lsﬁrs. Whitman, ope. cit., P. 129,

178uivert, VII, 9p. git.y 157. The Rousa Catholics
with their doctrines ©f gratia infusa and ex opere operato

had no worries about faith as the receiving mezns as far
as the Indians were concerned, whereas FProtestant theology
reoquirad faith in the recipient ol the sacraments o re-—
ceive its blessings. . -




*

although they still had their greatest difficulty in tryiag
%o do consistent work with the Indians when they were con=-
stantly on the wove. Thoy continually tried to ianterest the
Indiens in farming as en inducement to remain settled in
one place long enough s0 they could be taught.ls

By 18420 their adobe house had becoame too dangerous o
live in for another year. Whitmao had to build another one
but nseded help. Word had reachsd then of a large party
of enligrents which was coming over the mountaius ¢ Oregon,
and Vhitman decided to wait until they came and to try and
hive haads Go help hin with his work at the miasiun.lg

The Whitnans were delighted %o hear of this coming emi-
grobion, because it meant that white settlors would be come
ing into the area. As early as 1838 Marcus had expressed
belief, that white settlers would bs coming into the area
and dispossess the Indisns.=C This attitude on their pert
had far-reoching implicatiouns, for the last years of the
mission brought out The fact that when the Whitmans tried
o0 sbraddle the fence between sustaining the self-=respect
and social integrity of the Indisns on the one hand, and
to further the success of the American amigrations on the

other, both Dr. and irs. Whitman found trouble.zl

1B.Drur.v, OPe cibey Pe 255.

19%annon, op. cite, pe 72.
EQDrury. OPe Citey Do 1%,
2lgulbert, VIII, op. Sltes Do 13.
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This attitude on their pert is clearly indicated in a
letter written by Narcissa to her family in New York oa

May 24 1840, in which she says,

We feel that we cannot do our work too fast to save
the Indian--the huated, despised and unprotected In-
dion--from entire extinction. « « o ¥Wo are emphati-
cally situated on the highway Letwesn the states and
tiie Columbia River, and are a resting plece fer the
weary btravelers, consequently a greater burden rests
upon us than upen any of our associates--to be always
ready. And doubtless many of those who are coming to
this mission their resting place E:I.c will be with
us uasil they seck and find h&gas . chelr oun among
the scolitery wilds of Oregon,

In the pame letter she also speaks of the character of

the Indisns and their own atiltudes towards the Indians,y as

she states,

They are an exceedingly proud, haughty, and insolent

people, and keep us ceoastantliy upon the siretch after
patience ané forbearance., Ve feed them far more than
cny of our associates to their people, yet they will

net be satisfied. Nobtwithstanding all this there are
many redogning gualitiss in then, else we should have
been discouraged long ago. tHe are moreagnﬂ more en-

couraged the loanger we stay anong them.

By this tine the Whitmenes had been at Walilatpu for
three and one-halfl years and had been instructing the Indi-

ons in religion as much as they were able., I a letter to

Greene on July 6, 184C, Whitman describes the resuonse of
the Indians o his tecaching and his worship., He says,

The appercnt reception of the truth has been of four
kinds=-=0ne o0 excite opposition of heart and complaint
that it was personal when any particular illustration

224005, Whitmen, ope gibe, DDe 133-134.
231b1d.. DPe 135.
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of sin or practical application was made. Another to

call very apparent assent to truth and interest to

hear. A Third--a desire to hear in order to be wise

%o wgrgh;p in thg_u{ght of pihers and fourth great

stupidity and indifference.&

45 shown, the recepbtion of Calvinist teachings by the
Indioans was fully in keeping with their basic character.
Either they refused to believe what was said, or they made
only a mere oubward application of the truths to their
lives, neither of which could be considered beaneficial or
lasting,

In Aupust of 184%0 the first wagons of that year's im-
migration began to pass the mission house., The iamigrants
were in such poor condition after their journeys that a
great many of them stopped at Waiilatpu for rest, help,
and/or supplies.

Since this was only Ghe first wagon train of any pro-
portions, the Indians were as yet not at all worried about
the influx of whites. It was from this party of settlers
that Whitnman hired the helpers he necded in the person of
William Munger and his wife, Whitman and Hunger imumediately
began %0 build a more substantial house to take the place
of the old adobe house which had become thoroughly weakened,
as already mentionsd.25 This large t=shaped structure was
40 be the main mission house, to house the Doctor's family

and other mission workers and to serve 23 a meeting plece.

24gu1bert, VII, op. git., 180,
20prury, ops cite., ppe 234=257.
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It was the beginning of their complex of buildings on the
mission sive, which later included an adobe meeting house,
an a26dition to the mission house, a blacksmith shop, and
a grist mill, in addition to the buildings already standing
on the proparty.aﬁ

ITn the fall of 1840 the missions had their annual meet-
ing and found that the old discords and antagonismc were
etill alive. The provlems came %o a focus in this meeting
which scemed %o center sround Rev. Spalding. There was The.
old antagonism between him and the Whitmens, resuliting
from an old courtship between Narcissa and Spalding, in
their youth, when she had turned down his suit for her hand
in marriage, causing him to bear a grudge. Another source
of fricition was the fact that many of the members of the
18386 reinforcenent were capticus and hyporsensitive., Every-
bedy laid the blame for the difficulties on everybody else.
Many reports were sent Lo the Board,'many of thea criticiz-
ing Spalding, but all the members of the mission getting
their share of censure, These reports of discord ané conw
plaint, sent o the Board, had their result two years later
in the BRoard's decision concerning the missioneries, which
eventually led %o Whitman's trilp east.27

fhe Whitmans also had trouble with their Indians, who

wers beginning to resent, more than ever, Whitman's theo-

asBﬂncrOft. DOPe cit-’ De 35?.
27Drury, OPe Citey PPs 258=239,
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logy and preaching. Narcisse, in o letter dated October 10,
1840, relates the situetion as follows,

Of late my heert years over them more than usual.

They feel so bad, disappointed, and some of Ghem angry
because husbond tells them that none of them are Chris-
tians; that they are all of them in the broad road %o
destruction, and that worshipping will not save them,
as they say, but talk good talk, or tell some story,

or history, S0 that they may have some Scripture nanss
%0 learn. Some threaten to whip him and to destroy our
cCTops, and for =2 long tine their cattle were turned
into our pobato field every night to see if they could
not compel him o change his course of instruction with
thom, These things dld not intimidate usj; it only
drove us Yo & throne of grace with greater earmestness
0 plead for blessings to descend upon them. Our
hearts only pant for time to have our wholc ninds given
up o instructing them without being distracticd with
so many cares which ars necessar;l.gy uwpon us, not for
ourzelves so much as for others.<

The child-like savages could not understandéd the finer
pointes of sin and grace and desired somgthing simpler than
Whitasn's presching of hell-~fire and damnation. Hulbert
seys of Whitman's approach to the Indiasns,

Over and over ageln even the Doctor's more loyal Cayuse

followers begged hinm nob to De so 'harsh'; not to malke

such & point of calling uwp to Eaeir minds their faults
and shortcomings and failures.

The Indians surely needed to be told of their sins and
the offer of God's Grace, but the Indiens could not realize
the importence of this preaching in the way that Whitman

presented it to them. The Indians, on the otker hand, pro=

asblarcus and Naercissa Whitman, "kMrs. Whitmaun's Ietters®
and "Ietters from Dr. Whitman," Transactions of tho Twenty-

P ton AtiERBHOL Totioe
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29 ulbert, VIII, ope. cit., 52.
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ferred ihe Roman Catholic procedure of teaching by s tory-

telling and parebles much better, and many of the Indians

becane discouraged with Whitmen and went over to the Catho-

lic religion.

This did no% discourage Whitman, who, unfortunately,

hed never known any other training in doctrine and its pre-

sentation aside from the one which he used with the Indians,

ané he 4id not realize the fubure results of his modus gpexr-

andl, which is indicated in a letter of his dated Ocotber 15,
1840,

I have been pressing them +he Cayuse with their lost
Tuined and condemned state in a particular menner; in
order to remove the hope that worshipping will save
theme It has stirred up no little opvosition of heart
to the truthy but I trust it may result in striping
sic| then from a reliance which I think was given
them before we came inga the Countrys that worshiping
[Bi€] would save them.

In another letter dated October 29, 1340, Fhitman again

ragcehoes his oft-mepeated complaint, that he had much oo

much %o éo o give every one of his duties a satisfactory

anount of atbtention. He says,

For everyone to be his own Ifarmer, housebuilder and
chbce is oo much to look for great or geod results in
our missionary work. For one to be aloas is to 1limib
his time so much to the care gf his family that little
can be done for the Indians,”

The most importans event in the year 1841 was the an-
fiission meeting, held in the early fall. In this meet-

3011d., pe 53.
3lyuibert, VII, op. git., 200.
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ing all the missionaries bared their consciences and con=-
fessed their wronge o one another, Spalding acknowledged
that he had been difficult and had contributed much to the
ill feelings there. He pledged himself not only %o forsake
his jealous attitude but also to cooperate with the mission
and with the YWhitmans in the future, All the other mis—
sionaries made like confessions, and for the first time the
air was coapletely clear of anbtagonisms and recrinminations
against one anothers; and this is the way it remained. Taey
imaediately sent minutes of the meeting to the Board in
Boston to counteract the bad reports which had been sent
the last few previous years, but these minutes came too
late %o sGop the letteor from Secrastary Greens which arrived
in 1842 and disvupbed the entire mission.>- : |

The Whitmans now were beginning to find out Just how
childish and undependsble these savages of theirs were.
Harcissa wribtes on November 11, 1841,

I is difficult for them to feel but that we are rich

and getbting rich by the houses we dwell in the clothes

we ware [Bic] end hang out to dry after washing frcm

week to_vweek=-and the grain we consune in our fa=-

milies.?

Warclssa also copied ocne of Harcus'! letters to the

Board and included its contents in her letter dated Noven-
ber 18, 1841l. In it Whitman related some of his troubles
with the Indiens. He tells of their lonsolence and their

5anrury,,gg. citey Do 254,
3Jsulbert, VII, Ope cit., 250.
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atbtempts Yo blackmail him for the land which they had given
Yo him for - mission. He lays much of this tzouble %o the
actione of Joe Gray, en Iroguols half-breed, wko had been
circulating about the tribes and spreading evil rumnors sboub
the Whitmans, sayiag that they were going to kill the Indi-
ans a2nd talke thelr lends. He also relates how an Indiean
nzd been bothering Willian Gray, thelr lay helpsr, and Gray
had put the Indian out of the house, whereupon the Indian
teisd b0 oteal Gray's horse. Whitman preventod hinm froom do=
ing thie, and the Indian after avguing with Whitman for scas
time becuame angrmy and shruck him in the face a few times and
threw his hat into the mud, trying o bully Uhitman into a
fight. Uhitman kept turning the other cheek, and the Iadian
grow Gived of the cne-sided combat and lofte” '

The Whitmeans, acccording o their correspondence, were
never abls teo successiully combat the almost inborn in=-
stinct of thisvery in the Indians, In a letlter of Februany 4,
1242y Whitman tells of his experience with a group of Indians
who hed svoleon & herd of horses. He firvally preveiled on
them to return the stolen property, but the Imdiane still
34 not like his atbtitude towards their actions.”?

Phis delicabte situation was not helped any by the pre-
sence of the Roman Catholics, for Harcissa wrote to her

parents on July 25, 1842, that,

%s- Whitnan, Obe EL_'E.. Poe 157.
52 mid., po 142, ‘




42

The influence of Catholicism a2dds much to distrach
their nminde. They are constantly told by the follow=
ens of the priest that all who attend upon our instruc—
tions are in the sure way to hell--and.pll who go to
the priests worship will go to heaven.o>

The problem of the Indions' worshlp wes always a diffi-
cult one with the Whitmens. The Roman Catholics hsé no
trouble with their doctrines of work-righteousness and good
intentions, but the Whitmans could not=-theologically--oper=-
ete thet way. (o Avgust 23, 1842, Narcissa writes,

e Kaiuses siq!, Nez. Perces, Spokans !sicl. and all
the adjacsnt Tribes need your prayers, for vhey are &
derk-ninded wondering people, having heart but under-
stend not the truth. I will give you the language of
one of them in a tvalk made three Sabbaths esgo. Afbexr
listening to an exvosition of the truth contalned in
Proverbs,y 5th chapbter, he said: ‘Your instruction is
gpoody the wise and discrset appreciate it3 for the mass
of us, we heer 1it, but it falls powerle§= upon our -
heorts, and we remein the same still,'?

The big event of 1842 was the visit of Dr. Elijeh
White in September. He had formerly been connected with
the iHethedist Hissions in the Willamette Valley but had re-
turned cast and had been appointed Indlon Agent Ior Oregon.
He stopped off at Waiilatpw on his way west and brought
with him a letter from the American Board in Foston. In
this lettor lay the significance of his visit.?®

This letter from Greemne, iundicating the wishes of the

SHulbert, VII, op. cibt., 267.
37jorcus end Nazcissa Whitman, op. gies De 163.
3Bnrury, ope. Cibe, Pe 272 Mail sexrvice was poor as

that time, and it was the custom .for travelers toc carry
the mail wost, as far as they were going.
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Board, in view of the previous correspondence receiveé from
the Oregon Iissions, stated the following directives: Spal-
ding was to be dismissed; Gray and Smith were to return
easty amd Whitmen and Rogers wore to move to Tschimakain to
live with Valker and Hells., RBoth Lapwal and Waiilatpu were
to be olosed.-‘i"’g As already stated, the distance beotvicen
Oregon and Boston was such that the report of new har;nony
and good will had not been able %o reach the Beard in ;b:Lrne.

In view of the seittlement of their past differences
the misslion disagreed with the Board's decision, In the
emerpgency meeting held in late September they decided ©o
walt until they heard from the Board again before following
throughh on the Board's orders, &Since the situation seemed
to be so delicate and the mission locations so important,
Whitmen asked the other membexrs:s of the mission to permit
him %o go back east and infervene personally with the Board.
The members reluctantly agreed; and on October 3, 1842,
Whitman set oul for Boston, accompanied by a lawyer who had
cone in that year's emigration, Amos Iovejoy. Iovejoy only
raveled half the Jjourney with Whitman, leaving him because
of the severe climatic conditions they encountered.q'o

Whitman arrived in Boston on March 30, 18435, where he
informed the Board of the developments of the situation in
Oregon, which the Board by this time had fully realized.

391pia., p. 241,
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The end mesult of his visit was the authorization by the
Boaxrd for the mission o go on as before. Thus Whitman ac-
complished his purpose in riding east, to secure permission
o continuve in Ovegon, especlally his own station, Waiilatpu,
which he felt to be of great importance in the coming years
because of the increcased 1mmigraﬁinns.4l
Whitmen returned with the 1845 caigration which lefs
fron Tiberty, lissouri, towards the end of May. He gave
then zome assistance in his assurance that wegons could be
taken through %o Orepon, and also by his servicezs of physi-
cisn and puide, He reached Weaiilatpu September 28, 1643-42
Many historians, mostly those men holding the Whitmone
saved-0Orepon theory, have attached political anﬁ nationsl
significance to Whitman's ride cast and his return. Thoy
contendod that Oremon would have been coapletely lost to
the United States had 1% not been for the efforts of Whitman
to convince President Tyler and Congress that the Gerritory
vas worth saving, and also by his efforts in forming and
directing the emigration of 1845, An investigation of the
sources and a review of the opinions of all reliable his-

torians disprove both of these cuntentions.43

4lrpid., pp. 516=320.
42 1bid., ppe 330=539.

45Fcr 2 more detailed analysis of this hiztorical
problem and its solution, see Edward G. Bourne, "The Ie-

end of Marcus Whitman," Essays Historical Criticisn
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While Whitman was on his trip east, Narcissa had her
troubles in Waiilatpu. BShortly after the Doctor left, an
Indian tried %o break into the mission house one aight,
Horcissa awoke and called for help, and the Indisn fled,

She then had a trustworthy Indien stay at the house with her
until she moved for the winter to Fort Walla Walla, where
she wrote, "Doubtless it is not safe for me to remain any
lenger."qq'

Angther event during Narcissa's absence from the mission
sitie was the buraning of their grist mill, W%hether this was
done by accident or by purpose was never known, It was
thought that some Indian boys were playing with fire, and
accidently set fire to the mill itself.’”

Harcissa doubted that the Indians did it on purpose,
for she knew they realized how important that structure was
for then in grinding their wheat into flour. Another indi-
cation of their possible innocence was their great feeling
of loss, as she states in a letter written March 4, 1843,

Cthers that I have seen manifest feelings of the same

character, concerning the loss and I doubt not it is

the universal feecling of the tribes « » ¢ There are
redeeming qualities in the character of the Kaluses
notwithstanding they are insolent proud domineering
arrogant and ferocious, and I hope we shall feel en=-
couraged to labour in more faith and patience for their

salvation--not from any good in Egam but from a firm
reliance on the promises of Gode "™

Hgers, Wnitman, op. cit., DD. 163-164.
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Another serious problem which developed during Whitmen's
ebsence was brought on by Dr. Elijah ¥hite, who tried to
force a set of laws and regulations upon the Indisns, The
Indlians around Rev. Spalding had willingly accepted a set
of laws which had been made for them, and in view of the
general character and actions of the Cayuses Dr. Vhite
thought it would be & good idea to have lews for the Cayuses
too. He procceded to force them to adopt a similar set of
lawg which he had drawn up, which were to make then law=
abiding citizens, as one thinks of the term. These laws
were similer in nature to a sev of rules and regulations,
iuvder, thelt, adultery, lying, etc., were forbidden ond
subject to punishment. For example, 1f an Indian killed a
white men, he was o0 be tried and hanged, The sane, of
course, held true for a white man killing an Indian., The
laws viere just and right, and the Indians would no doubt
have adopted their own version of them if left alone. How-
ever, White forced the issue, and the Indians had Vo accept
and adopt Yhite's ILaws under threat of punishment, As a
result the Indians viewed thesec laws as repugnant, thought
of then with aloofnecss, and finally treated them with ar=-
tificiel and meaningless acquiescence.47
In a letter dated April 14, 1845, Narcissa speaks of
the reaction of the Indians to these laws. She first of
all tells how the Indiens missed the presence of Dr., Whit-

47Bulbert, VIII, op. citie, 17.
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man, since they had no one in whom they felt as much confi-
dence as he. That there was a definite antagonisam to the
laws is expressed later in the body of the letier,

The Indians « ¢ » have been led to believe that deceit-

ful measures are being taken to rob them of their land,

o kill them all off. ILanguage like this had been told

them, and at the meeting last fall, 'that if you 'do nob

make laws and protect the whites and their property, we
will put you in the way of doing it.' They consider
this a declaration to fight and they have prepared ace

cordingly. We hope no depradation will be comzitted .

upon us or the mission property, and think the diffi-

culties can be removed snd adjusted to their minds, bub
not without the most prudent and wise measures,

Indian agent is quite ignorant of Indian ch%act.ar and

especially of the character of the Kaiuses.

The coming emigration of 18435 finally began to arouse
the Indians' suspocions ﬁhai: they would someday be driven
f»om their lands. They had heard of a large emigration
coning west, ond various renegade Indians and Vhites told
the Cayuses how the same thing had happened back east, that
the Indisns were gradually dispossessed of their lands by
the increasing number of white settlers. The fact that
Whitman played a part in helping to bring these iamigrants
into their couniry caused them to feel, in subsequent and
even greater emigrations, that he was the man directly res=—
ponsible for all of 1:11:!.5."'9 Later nisslion corrsspondence

will show how the Indians became more and more concerned

over the future, and how their association of Whitmen with

48Marcus and Narcissa Whitman, op. cit., p. 1l6l.

49 3
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these immigrations haed its disastrous results.

However, the Indians did welcome Whitman back to the
mission and were truly glad to see him., This, however, did
not change the situation as it was to develop in the coming
years. The moral charccier of the Indians A4id not improve
at all, although their temporal condition continued to im=-
prove chiefly through the increase in the number of those
who cultivated the ground, raised cattle, and traded their
soods with the new white settlers.sc These points are
brought out in a brief excerpt from a letter of Whitman
dated Bovember 1, 1843, where he writes, "The Indians have
succceded well in cultivating and never treated me and the
mission better than at present."sl

Although encourgged, Vhitman in the following year saw
more trouble and friction developing between the Indiaans
and the whites. In a letter dated April 8, 1844, Whitman
tells of a white men, a mountain man named William Craig,
who was inciting the Indians and trying to start trouble, .
‘using White's lews and the presence of the Roman Catholics
as levers %o stir the people's feelings.52 In thb sane let-
ter Whitman shows the mercenary and ungrateful character of
his Indians, saying, |

ZOBancroft, op. git., Ps 346,
Slgulvert, VII, op. cile, 325.
525uibert, VIII, op. cit., 88.
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They also forbid me to break a new field as I desired
lest I should make money out of their lands by supply=-
ing cmigrents. They probably have a desire so far as
they can to engross the proffits [sic| of supplying
the emigrgpts themselves and do not wish 40 have comw
petition.”~

By this tine White's laws had been in forec for almost
a year, but the IndGians had lost none of thelir distaste and
ontagonisn towaxrds theom. In the same letiter just guoted
Whitmen doscribes their rsaction to the laws as follows,

There has been several peculiar causes of agitation
anong the Indisns in the past year, such as the intro-
duction of laws by Doct [8ic] White ss Indien Agent in
the name of the American Goverament. He represented
himself as having power to settle all difficulties be-
tween Whites and Indians and to send any person out of
this Upper Country including lissicnexies in case they
do not Ueach as they ought. This brought him %o be
the repository for all supposad grievances both civil
and religious. It is in vain to urge that the Indians
adopted the laws of themselves. The principal chief
said, they would have prefered ‘sic] their own, if leit
%0 their own choice. They have vecome a mere form as
there are none to execute them, They wish mostly to
use them to establish complaints agaianst white Il ra-
ther than punish offenders of their own people.

It took this intervening year for the results of the

forced a2doption of these laws to become evident, Dr. White

had forced the Indians to accept these laws, and the Indians

S S

did not like them. Once nmade, they had to be enforced.
White could not be around all the time to take charge of
this, and the responsibility fell to the person in charge.
Whitman was thus required to enforce these laws. This then
was o definite factor which might account for the animosity

532 idey Pe 84
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on the part of the Indians, Because Whitman had to enforce
the laws which the Indians despised this led 4o an associ=-
ation~-in the mind of the Indian--between the hateful laws
and Yhitman, who then became just as despised as the laws
thenselves. 22
In this same year Vhitman began to express his bsliefs
concerning the future of the Indiens in relation to that of
th> whites in which the Indians came out second best. This
was perhaps the big mistake of Whitman, for his own thoughts,
no matter how carefully hidden, were bound to find exzpres-
eion in his actions and attitudes. Another result was this,
that by his attitudes and actions. the Indians began to lose
confidence in hinm, just as any group loses confidence in a
leader who forsakes them. By these thoughts, listed below,
Whitnan was shaping his own future. His first detailed
words on the matter were in a letter dated April 138, 1844,
Although the Indians are doing much by obtaining stock
and culiivating as well as advancing in knowledge,
8till it cannot be hoped that a settlement will be s0
delayed as to give time for the advance to be made so
that they can stand before white settlement. For when
has it been Iknown that an ignorant, indolent man has
stood against HMoney, intellizence and snterprise? And
besides is not the providence of God in this matter in
one respect if no more. For the command is multiply
and replenish the earth, neither of which the Indians
obey. Their indolence, violence and bloodshed prevent
the first and indolence and improvidence the second,

How then gan they stand in the way of others who will
do bothe”

221bid., pps 14=15.
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Another more detailed expression of Whitman's ideas on
the future of the Indians are contained in a letter dated
liay 16 of the same year,

It gives me much pleasure to be back again and quietly
at work again for the Indiens. It does not concern me
so much what is to become of any particular set of In-
dians, as to give them the offer of salvation through
the Gospel and the opportunity of civilization, and
then I am content to do good to all men as 'I have op=-
portunity.' I have no doubt our greatest work is to
be %0 a2id the white settlement of this country and help
to found its religious institutions, Providence has
its full share in all these cvents, Although the In-
dians have made ané are making repid advance in reli-
gious knowledge ané civilization, yet it cannot be
hoped that time will be zllowed o mature either the
work of Christiaanization or civilization befors the
white settlers will demand the soil and seek the re-
moval of both the Indians and the Mission, What Ameri-
cans desire of this kind they always effect and it is
equally useless to oppose or desire it otberwise. To
guide, as far as can be done, and direct these tenden-
cies for the best, is evidently the part of wisdon.
Indeedy, I an fully convinced that when a people refuse
or neglect Go £ill the designs of Providence, they
ought not to complein at the results; and so it is
equally useless for Christians to be anxious on their
account. The Indians have in no case obeyed the com=
mand to multiply and replenish the earth, and they
cannot stand in the way of others doing so. A place
will be left them to do this as fully as their ability
to obey will pernit, and the more we can do for them
the more fully this will be realized. No oexclusiveness
can be asked for any portion of the human family. The
exercise of his rights are all that can be desired.

In order for this o be in its proper extont in regard
4o the Indians, it is nécessary that they seek to pre=-
serve their rights by peaceable means only.  Any vio=
lation of this rule g;ll be visited with only evil re-
sults to themselves.,

Although the Indians probably did not realize Whitman's
feelings in this matter as yet, the constani flood of imni-
grants was certainly not coatributing to their peace of mind.

57garcus end Narcissa Vhitman, op. cit., Dp. G4=E5.
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In a letter of liay 20, 1844, Harcissa writes,

The Indians are quite guiet but are solicitous about so

many coaing into the country. Hone are settled near

Ry

as the Indians will not like sither to respect the in-

ggggggrogiggetﬁgiggziggs?%gy ought nor the Whites to

One might see how the Indiens realized, on the basis
of Vhitman's feelings, that the Doctor was more of a friend
to the whites than he was to the Indians. This came as a
shock to the Indians and began to throw them into such con-
sternation =0 as to make them later resorit to {desperate mea-
sures o protact what they thought was their owan.

As the final years of the mission drew ever closer, it
becane more and nore evident that the Indisns were gradually
losiag confidence and trust in the VWhitmans. They began to
regard Whitman end his wife with suspicion and to think all
menner of evil things sbout them. In a letiter of 1845 Whit=
man states that the Indians suspected him of possessing me=
dicines which he intended to use to poison them. Trus, the
Doctor Gid heve poisons, but they were only a standard part
of his drug supply. The nissionaries had used poisoned
meat to kill wolves, and had also spiked some melons with
en emetic, to discourage the thieving instinets on the part
of the Indians. Some of the renegade Indians used these

simple acts to show undeniable proof to the other Indians

58Guibert, VIIT, op. cit., 107.
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that the missionaries were trying to kill them all off so
the whites could have the Indiens' land.??

This Dbelief on their part also caused the Indians to
lose confidence in Whitman's skill as a physicianr. dhen
one of his Indian patients would dies he was accused of be-
ing personally responsible for the death. WNarcissa bri.nsé,
this out in a letter dated April 8, 1845,

Ve have had some serious trials this spring with the

Indians. Two important Indians have died and they

have ventured to say and intimate that the doctor has-

Bccuse thelr un sorosors aad K111 them for 1550

This last phrase in her lettery ". « o in the same way
they accuse their sorcerers and kill them for it", indicates
another tribel custom which gave Dr. Whitman a great deal
of Gtrouble and can be listed as another possible factor for
the masszcre of 1847, This was thelr belief concerning

their medicine men, or "te-wat", as the Indians called them.

The "te-wat" was an integral part of the tribal life of the

Cayuses, moreso perhaps than of any of the other Indian

tribez. He had a tremendous hold on the superstitious fears

of his patients, and he was able to exact almost any amount
of payment for his services. Yet, at the same time, he was
held directly responsible for success. If he would fail to
cure the patient, the subject then selected another "te-wat"

>%%Geor ' i
ge W. Fuller, A History of the Pacific Northwest
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who had boasted of having better medicine; But if the pa=-

tient would die, the relativps of the dead patient Gool: the

life of the "te-wat". They believed that he held the power
life end death, and if the patient died he was responsible
and thereby forfeited his life. The Cayuses looked on
Vhitmen as a "be-wat", and he was threatened by them on a
number of occesions when his patients died.sl
tions of this tribal belief became more. openly pronounced
during an epidemic of measles immediately preceding the
magsacre, which will bé discussed below. :

There was another curious tribal belief of the Cayuses

vhich had a definite bearing on the Indians® appreciation

The implica-

of

of the Vhitmens' efforts and in their attitudes towards them.

This was the challenge which Whitman presented o the Cayuse

domestic relationship which Hulﬁert describes,

Dr. Yhitman's constant effort to make ikrs. VWhitaan's
tosks easier, his great solicitude for her when she
was wora out or sick, and his eagerness on any pretext
to take hor with him on journeys from home in order %o
relieve her of the wearing grind of a large houschold,
waes a challengs tg the whole ancient system of Cayuse
domestic economy. =

The Cayuse Indian brave did very little actual work in their

domestic relationship and mistreated their squaws without
any feeling at 21l of personal wronge The Indians could
not understand the love and tenderness of Whitman to his
wife, particularly when he would help her with some task or

6lpuibert, VII, op. Cite, 7-8.
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another. The Indians feared that their women might get

such ideas from the way Vhitman treated his wife that the
squaws would demand the same treatment from their husbands.
This fear became more pronounced 2s the years passed.eg’
The summer of 1845 saw the beginning of what was to be
the largest immigration thus far. Vhen the news of %this
large party reached the Jiudiane they were quite disturbed
and decided to do something about it. They laid plans t.o
attack the wagon train in the mountains just before they
would reach the mission; but Whitman heard of the plotj and
after a forced ride he beat the war party to the wagon
train, The Indians were understandably surprised and cha=-
grined to meet Whitman at the head of the wagon train. He

dispersed them, kept one of their chiefs hostage, and seant
then all home.sq'

Whitman must have known that the Indians would react ‘!
very unfavorably to this, but he had no choice in the matter.
Hie had been sent specifically to minister to the Indians and
to watch over themj but as a missionary, a doctor, a Chris-
tian, and a humsn being he owed a very definite responsibi-
lity to the innocent white settlers comling into the area.

The results of this action were increased hostility of the
Indians to the immigrants and a strong belief, now proven,

as fer as the Indians were concerned, that the Doctor had

53;91(1.' Pe D
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forsaken his Indian friends and was now a friend to the
white .rn.a\n.65

A furvher indication of this hostility is found in a
letter dated May 20, 1845, in which Vhitman wrote,

As it 1s at present, there is no force to keep the va=-

gabond pexrt of the Indians in order--and as the Immi-

gration are [Eic| passing somec horses are stolen fronm

them and others~stray or are losty all of which are
charged to be stolen although few indeed are=-and the

Chiefs exert t-hemgglves o a very considerable degree

to preveant theft.

. Whitman was still having sone  measure of success with
the Imdians of the mission, even though some of them were
indulging in hostile and inimical actions,®?  This is more
clearly brought out in a letter of Whitman's dated April 13,
1846, as follows,

We from time to time have found trials with the Indians

but all end only to make me feel the more satisfied of

the general good intentions of the people. I am sure
no one wishes to disturb or herm us-=but sgore than
that we are held in high esteem by them.

Phis highly optimistic attitude was maintained through-
out the spring and sumamer, and Whitman indeed felt ‘that he
was making headway with the Indians, as he writes on Sep=-
tember 8, 1846,

I think we have ai no time been as much in the affec=-
tions of the people as now. A much kinder disposition

S%Huivert, VIII, op. cit., 15.
®O1mia., p. 142,
%71bia., p. 157.
®81pid., p. 168,
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is menifested toward us, now more than at any former

period y-~axhibiting the feeling that they could not

do without us. No abatement is seen in attention upon

. ggéigioggeiggggzzigg.%gd more consistent views of re=

This rosy prospect of a bright future anzig the Indians
was blighted by the severe climate of the winter of 1846-
18%?. This winter, the last the Whitmens were to see, was
unusually severs. The Indians and the ilission both lost
neny of their cattle snd crops. The Whitmans had a stock=
pile of reserve food, but the Indians were not so lucky as
to have been Dlessed with this degree of foresight. The In-
dians were particularly hard hit by the severe winter be=
coause it killed off their main meet supply, their main
source of food--the wild game in the mountains.?o

Along with the prospective 1ean.months ahead there
came an infinitely more terrifying scourge which caused
meny deaths among the Indians--the disease we call measles!
To the whites the epidemic of this disease was only aggra-
vating and irritating, but to the Indians it was death.
They had never come inbto contact with such a thing before,
and their bodies had absolutely no resistance built up
against the disease. It was the white man's disease, for he

was the sourcej and the Indians' hostility increased .71

S9ia., p. 185.
701)1'“1‘3' OPp. 9_!-_'!?_-. PDe 3?1-3720

7?lonarles C. Cree
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In view of the fact that many Indians thought of
Whitmen as the white men's friend, he too came in for a
sharec of the hostility and resentment of the Indisns. The
most specific indicetion that the epidemic was one of the
factors contributing to the nassacre of 1847 was in the In-
dlans'! reaction to Whitman's treatment of the disease,
ilost of those who had measles, white ond Indian alike, were
treated at the mission house. Because of the difference in
resistance %o the diseasce, the white children walked away
healthy, while the Indien families &and tribes mourned the
deaths of their hardiest braves. It was only a natural con-
clusion to the uneducated Indians that Whitman was poisoning
end killing off those Indians under his cares’> Aftsr the
massacre one of the Indians told that a story hed besen cir-
culated around his own villege which told bhow Whitnan had
been induced o give medicine to three Indians, two of whom
were sick and one was only shamming illness., All died, and
the Indians were then convinced that Whitman was poisoning
'lihem.?3

The last year of the mission, 1847, confroated the
Whitmens with a dilemns. They were definitely aware of the
bad feelinges harbored by some of the Indians, and realized
that this was dangerous. Nevertheless, thers seemed to be

720scar Osburn Winther, The Great Northwest (Wew York:
Alfred A. Knopf, 1947), p. 152.

73“1131" LODe. Oitc’ Pe 144,
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such wonderful opportunities for work among the Indians, es-
pecially now, when they needed the presence of spiritual
leaders most of all. Moreover, a large immigration was on
its way to Oregon, and Whitman knew that these people would
- need help.

Whitmen considered the possibility of relocating some-
where else, or of moving on with the immigrants. He decided
in the end to stay. He knew of the dangers, but he felt that
he hed already Gone so much for the Indians that he and his
wife ought to remain. The mistake in making this fatal de=-
cision vo remain at Vaiilatpu consisted in relying oo much
on the shallow gratitude of ©the mdiana.?q' .

Narcissa also shared her husband's confidence in being
able t'o continue the work- among -the Indians, for in a letter
of HMay 18, 1847, she says, "I should like to say much about
"the Indians, but cannot. Our prospects for usefulness among
them have never beeﬁ jnore lenr.‘a ouraging .than at present ."75
She writes again on July 15, "« « « but for the prescnt I
desire to0 speek of our own prospects as a mission, vhich w2
feel were never brighter than at preaent."76

The last mention Narcissa made of the Indians was in
a letter dated August 25, 5She says,

The poor Indians are amazed at the overwhelming number

74Drury. ops citsy Pe 577,
75marcus and Narcissa Whitman, op. cit., p. 208.
7 mia., p. 211.
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of Americans coming into the country. They seem not

;gegng:tggﬁgdtgomiigeazg :gin;; ;:o.usmgglr:gg closer.$$

Her last words, "The remaining ones . « « " give a
clue to the perplexing peradox presented in the history of
the nission. NMany times the Whitmans wrote of their Indians,
how pleased they were with them, how they expected such
good results, and how faithful the Indians had become. - Yet
it wes these very Indisns who killed them. The problem of
the goodl Indians resorting to murder is solved by the fact
that there were two factions in the tribe, the Christian
and the Bavage. The Whitmans had a strong influence on the
Christien faction of the tribe., They had worked with then
these many years and had led them to an agricultural and
agrarian life, which irritated the Savage faction, who still
stuck with their nomadic tendencies and savage practices,
and had not been overly affected by the power of the Gospel
vhich Whitman preached. When the immigrants started coming,
those Indians who had remained with the mission and had
tilled their fields acguired a great deal of property, goods,
and other material blessings, through trading and doing bus-
iness with the white settlers. Because the Savage faction
hed: none of the wherewithal to trade they became jealous
and wanted to get some of the profits too. Many of the Ine
dians then joined the ranks of the mission solely for what-

ever material gain they could receive. These Indians wore

77 bid., p. 214.
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not 390 kindly disposed toward the doctor, and when things
went wrong and thoir attempts to become rich proved abortive,
they blamed the Whitmens. The number of the goofi Indians
who Jjoined in the massacre can possibly be ascribed Ho the
intTluence of mob psychology, strengthened by the other fac-
tors mentioned which were called to the attention of these
Indians,?® '

There were a number of renegade Indians who had peri-
odically stirred up the Cayuses with stories and accusa=-
tions, but the cnes who had the most deleterious effect
were two half-breeds, Joe Iewis and Nichelas Finley. They
passed nothing by which might have been used as a tool for
inciting the hatred of the Indians against the Whitmens.
That these two were directly assocliated with the coaspiracy
against the Whitmans 1s shown from the fact that Finley's
house became the headquarters for the conspirators.79

during the summer of 1847 the viagons of the imamigrants
began pouring through the Columbia Valley in an ever-increas-—
irg stream, and the Indians grew very concerned over the
great number of whites. Some of the Indians took matters
in their own hands, and the members of the 1847 immigration
suffered from the depradations of the Indians, who stole and
looted whatever they could. Whitmen tried hard to regain
the stolen property and to smooth the way for the immigrants

?Phulvert, VIII, op. cit., 46-47.
79Drur.v- op. cit., p. 587.




62

and o prevent clashes with the Indisns."C -Sometises Whit-
men evenr had o force the Indians to return their stolen
goods. If any of the Indians still thought that the Doctor
was their friend, this showed them decisively, according to
their logic, where Whitmen's loyalty lay, especially when
he told them that thoy might suffer reprisal for their
thefts .o

dbout a year before this the Roman Catholics had star-
ted established work in Whitman's immediate ares. This has
been proclaimed by some historians ﬁs one of the major face
Gors in the causes of the massacre. The fact that they were
there, as Hulbert says,

e o o cOulé not help but weaken the Indian adherents of

the protestant faith by melking it plein that its repre=-

sentatives had no copyright on the ways or means of

2212:3233 :gg gg:g gggfgacreeds were equally efficient

Just because they happened o settle in The region a
short while before the massacre has caused people to associ=
ate the one as the cause of the other. The VUhitmans never
once mentioned the Roman Catholics as directly inciting the
Indians to cause them trouble. The Roman Catholics come in=-
to the picture only as pawns of the savage element of the
tribe, who were looking for an excuse to discredit and do

away with the Doctor and found one in .the opposing religious

801514, , pp. 380=381.
Slgulbert, VIII, op. cib., 244.

82;91&-. Pe 5l.
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views of the Romen Catholics, which, understandably, had
upset the ;;_:eop.'l.e..a3

The conspirators were laying their plens, and the day
of the massacre was very near, Somehow or another their
secret had leaked out, and Whitman heard of it. He was
no% worrisd, disclaiming it as only talk and nothing elsa.&
Whitman was very 4 a2finitely ewere of the danger, for Spal-
diag himself had heaxd of the plot too, and had relayed
the informetion o Whitman, whose lack of concern was pro-
bably due to the fact that he had heard the sams threat so
many vimes before.ss

The stage was now set, and all the plans were laid,

All that was lacking was the act itself,

85 1hid., DD 54=55.
Bq'l)rury, Ope citey Do 556,
83Huibert, VIII, oD Site, Pe 6l.




CHAPTER V
THE DISASTER AND ITS CONSEQUENCES

On the morning of November 29, 1847, there were an un=
usually large number of Indiens in and about the mission
sottlenent, all with their blankets wrapped about them. No
one vGhought this strange because a cow was being bubtchered
that morning, and the Indians liked o come and watch.'
While Vhitnan was ia the :"aiss:l.on house reading, ssveral In=-
diang came to the house under the pretext of wanting nedi-
cine. One of them, Tomassky, engaged Whitmen's attention,
while the other, Tiloukaikt, struck h:!.m- on the head with his
tomahawiks As Whitmsn fell to the ground, Tiloukaikt struck
hin several more times. One of the men from the mission,
Francis Sager, heppened to be in the house at the time, saw
this happening and tried to spread the alerm, However, To=-
nasaky pulled out a rifle from beneath his blanket and shot
him. This shot was a sign for battle to the other Indians
about the mission, who pulled out rifles, pistols, and
tomahawks from bheneath their blankets and started shooting
and killing. Because of the surprise of the attack and the
lack of preparedness in the mission for the attack, the In-

dians met with but little resistancg. Soon the men of the
mission had either been killed, wounded, captured, or had
run for their lives. Mrs. Whitman, who had been watching
the carnage from a window of the mission house, was shot in
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‘the breest by o ball from the rifle of Joe Iewis, one of the
couspirators. Although wounded and bleeding she gathered
all the children together and stayed in an upstalrs room.
Iator, the Indians promised her safe coanduct out of the
housej bubt as she was carried out on a makeshift stretcher
she was dumped on the ground. The Indians opened fire,
killing her instently. With Mro. Vhitnan deed and Doetor
Whitmen dying the Indians indulged in an orgy of secking,
looting, and destroying, burning all the mission bulldiﬁ_.gs'
%o the ground. ' The total duration of the mossacre was two
days. Of "al-m total ﬁumbez- of seveaLy-four persons whoh
were st the mission, eleven men, one woman, and two children
had been killed by the time the hostilities ceased.]'

AlGer the messacre the Indians took the remaining mene
bers of the mission captive, fifty-one in all, having been
unable %o track down and find the few who had escaped. As
soon as word of the messacre reached Fort Walla Walla Peter
Ogden, of the Hudson's Bay Company, came down for the pur-
pose of ransoming the captives. He gave blankets, shirts,
punc, ammnition and tobacco, valued at 500 dollars, to the
Indians for the release of the captives, A few of the pri-
soners had been mistreated, but for the most rart they werle
alive and well. Ogden brought the captives bacik to Fort

1

Clifford M. Drury, Harcus Vhitmen, H.D,, Pioneer and
Mﬁl(cﬁawell, Idaho: ~The Oaxton Printers , Iﬁ;l@;ﬂ,
DD =411,
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Valla VWalls on December 30, where they received medical
attention, food, rest, and a chance to start anew somewhere
else.2

Governor George Abernathy, head of the provisional
government of Oregon, received word of the massacre on
December & and dispatched Colonel Gilliam and a force of
Oregon volunteers to apprehend and punish the murdersers.
The Indians refused to fight and fled to the hills, where
they remained for two years. They remained there uatil
1850 when anothexr force of Oregon volunteers, under Colonel
Kelly, flushed them out of the hills anéd into the plains,
There, to avoid further bloodshed, five of the Indians gave
themselves up as the murderers, Trial was held on May 22,
1850, at Oregon City, Oregon; and a few days later all five
were sentenced o be hung on June 3, 18-5'0. Tomasaky, Ti=
loukaikt, and Joe Lewis had all died during their exile in
the hills.”? '

The Indian wars after the end of the massacre ended
thes work of the American Board in Oregon. Walker, Eells,
and Spalding were all commanded to leave their posts and
seek a place of safety. In 1851 the Indians wished another
mission established, and Walker investigated the situation.
' He concluded that the area was still too dangerous for mis-

2
» liarvin M. Richardson, The Whitman Mission, the Third
Btation on the Old Oregon Trail (Walla Walla: Whitmen Fub-
Iishiag Co., 1940), PP. 135-157. .

Bnrury, op. cit., pp. 414-417.
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sion work, so nothing more was ever done. In January of
1855 the American Board permenently suspended missionary
operations in the Oregon country and disbaﬂded the missions
they had there: Waiilatpu, Tschmikain, ILapwai, and The
Dalles.. The Board subsequently relinquished its claims and
sold the mission sites to various interested partias.4

The site at VWalilatpu changed hands a number of times
and through the years was split up into small plots. Bit
by bit the parts of the site, owned separately, were con=
veyed to the hands of various memorial, historical and re-
ligious asamociations, all anxious to obtain the whole plot
as & aemorial to Dr. Whitman.5 On June 29, 1936, some
forty-six acres of the desired land were given o the His-
toric Sites Division of the National Parks Service with a
clear title, to be used in the completion of the Whitman
National fionument, as it remains so today.s

Bven though the Indians had nassacred the Whitmans,
the good effects of their missionary activities still re-
mained, Subsequent visitors to the area, among them Rev,

Spalding, remarked on the continuance of worship, singing

“srcher Butler Rulbert and Dorothy Frintup Hulbert,
editors, "Marcus Whitwan, Crusader," The Crusaders, the

Charles B. Voorhis Series of Overland to the racific (Den-
ver: The Stewart Commission of Color aﬁ" CTollege and the

Denver Public Iibrary, 1938), VIII, 72.

5It was at this time, the last few years of the nine=
teenth century, that the Whitman-saved-Oregon story was
most popular and prevalent. .

Srichardson, op. cit., pp. 140-147.
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of hymns, and prayers by the Indians. Some of the Bible
had beon translated into their own tongue, and the reading
of this translation was an importsnt part of their aerv:l.ce.7

The work of the Whitmans in Vaiilatpu was, at least,
not utterly useless; for, if nothing else, it showed that
the Viord of God ". + o shall not return unto me void, but it
shall accomplish that which I please, and it shall prosper
in the thing whereto I sent :i.'l:."8

7 b1 A ¥
Oliver W, Nixon, How Marcus Whitman Saved Oregon (Se-
cond editiong chicaso: TStar Sublishing COe., 1895), De 233

€isatan 55:11.




CHAPTER VI
CONCTUSION AND EVALUATIONS

The bright beginning of the Whitmens® mission at Weiie
latpu, its gradual decline, and its tragic ending, as traced
in the preceding chapters, give rise to a host of seemingly
unrelated factors and causes. All the factors which, in
the writer's estimation, contributed to the decline, failure,
and massacre of the mission were mentioned in Chapter IV,
411 that yet remains is to gather together in a unified pat-
tern and system all these related factors and o evaluate
the personal responsibility of Dr. Whitman in his work at
the mission.

The factors, or circumstances, leading to the massacre,
can be grouped in two major divisions: the circumstances
outside of Whitman's control, and the circumstances under
his control,.

The first, those circumstances over which Whitman had
no respoasibility or control, was the basic character of the
Cayuse Indians., They were untrustworthy, ungrateful, capri=-
cious, unpredictable, nomadic, superstitious, captious, sa-
vage, and childliks, more than ready to listen to the rene-
gades who conspired among them against the mission. The se-
cond was the ill will and bitterness resulting froa the
forced adoption of Dr. White's ILaws in 1842, which: provoked
and aroused the Indians to hostility against Dr. Whitman,
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who was required to enforce these laws. The third was the
growing stream of immigrants, coming in ever:l.ncreasi.ng nuit
bers, which made the Indians fear that they would lose their
lands. The fourth was the climatic conditions in the fall,
winter, and spring of 1846-1847, which killed off the crops
and geme and made the Indians hungry and angry, causing them
to seek revenge on the man who had accustomed them o depend
on an agricultural type of life. The fifth was disease, epi-
deamic, and death, which ravaged the Indians, killing many of
them, who then blamed it all on Whitman.

The other half of the major division of factors, the
circumstances under Whitman's control, are also divided.
They sre: those circumstances under his control, which he
had no choice in carrying out; and those circumstances under
his control, carried out by choice.

The first part, those circumstances he had to carry out
without. any choice, were the excessive duties he was re-
guired to perform so0 that he was unable o devote a full
amount of concentration to any one of them for any length of
: time. The second was the aid he gave to the immigrants, who
also claimed a2 share of his concern, as well as the Indians
to whom Whitmen was sent. His actlions in counteracting the
111 effects of Indian raids and depredations on s immi-
grants further embittered and 'antagonized the Indians.

Those circumstances which were carried out strictly by
his own personal choice also number two factors. The first,
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and probably the most dengerous, was his view on the future
of the Indians. As early as 1843 he gave up hope of the
Indians ever being able to settle on the land, This was
hardly a decision calculated to inspire confidence and trust,
and only resulted in the opposite--distrust and loss of con-
fidence. In trying to work among the Indians and yet en-
couraging the white settlers o come and live near his mis=
sion, the Indians began to lock on Whitman as more of a
friend to the whites than to themselves.

The second factor was his approach in teaching religion
to the Indians. They were ch.:i.ldlike‘ savages, not religiously
experienced adults, and his Calvinistic presentation of sin,
death, hell, and damnation only confused and frightened the
Indians, who didn't have the religious background to fill in
the essentials needed to understand and apply such vreaching,
lis preeching only aroused half-hearied and insincere res-
ponse and eventually antagonized his Indian parishioners.

These are the factors; all of them caused antagonism
and aroused the animosity of the Indians. This, then, leads
to the second problem presented in the introduction, How
much responsibility for the failure of the mission can be
laid directly to the work and/or person of Dr. Whitaan?

Viere his personally chosen plans of action the main reason
for the downfall and massacre of the mission? Or, were his
actions only contributions to a whole seriss of factors,
neither of which, individually, would have been enough to
precipvitate the disaster but which, collectively, tipped
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the delicate balance of the relationship between Dr. Whit-
man and the Indians?

The writer has fixed upon the last statement as best
answering the total problem. The last two factors mentioned,
those performed by the direct choice of Dr. Whitman, were
serious ones and were definitely mistakes on his part. How-
ever, it is doubtful if these two factors coﬁld be isolalsz:
as being the main causes for the massacre and failure of the
mission, There is no indication in the mission correspondence
that the reaction over against these two things, taking sides
with the whites and his preaching, had grown and developsd
%o such a pitch which would explofde into murder. Lioreover,
neither of these two factors are, in themselves, sufficient
grounds for a mass murder as was perpetrated. The Doctor's
actions were important, in that they added grist to the mill
of the Indians' wrath, but his actioans were not primarily
inmportant,

The reason for the massacre, according to the writer,
lay in the fixation of the Indians upon the white people as
the reason for all their troubles. All these factors, the
sources of the Indians' antagonism, had to be caused by
something, according to the Indians' logic, and since the na=-
jority of these factors were woven so closely with the coming
of the whites, it was obvious to the Indians thait here was
the cause of all their troubles. VWhat symbolized the pro=
sence of the white men more’ than the mission of the ¥hitmons'
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at Waillatpu? What better way to drive out of the country

the present setitlers and to discourage new ones from arri-
ving, then by destroying this mission and its people?

To the Indians this was their solution, and on that
rainy day in November they carried out their plans. It
accomplished their desired objective, the removal of the
whites from their country. However, this temporary victory
also brought suffering, shame, defeat, and eventusl subjJuge-
tlon under those same whites. The greatest orroﬁ. though,
that the Indiens carried with them to the grave, was the
realization thet the man they had killed, Dr. YWhitman, was
for all his humen faults andéd shoricomings the best friend
they had ever had or ever would have. No one else ever
showed them the kindness, consideration, and help which
they bad received from the Doctor. Vhitman may have made
nistakes and may not have shown discreitioni but for all of
this he was sincere and honest and a credit to his church,
as a Christian, and to his countrymen, both Indian and
White, as a missionary of the VWord of God.
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